STONEMOR PARTNERS LP Form 10-Q August 09, 2006 **Table of Contents** 

# **UNITED STATES**

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED June 30, 2006
OR
" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1934 FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO
Commission File Number: 000-50910
STONEMOR PARTNERS L.P.  (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

80-0103159 Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer  $incorporation\ or\ organization)$ Identification No.) 155 Rittenhouse Circle

Bristol, Pennsylvania

**Table of Contents** 1

19007

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(215) 826-2800

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

### Not Applicable

(Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of accelerated filer and large accelerated filer in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check one):

Large accelerated filer " Accelerated filer x Non-accelerated filer "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes "No x

The number of the registrant s outstanding common units at August 9, 2006 was 4,520,734.

## **Table of Contents**

## Index Form 10-Q

		Page
Part I	Financial Information	
Item 1.	Financial Statements - Unaudited	1
Item 2.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	15
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	29
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	30
Part II	Other Information	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	31
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	31
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	31
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	31
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	31
Item 5.	Other Information	31
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	32
	<u>Signatures</u>	33

### Part I Financial Information

### **Item 1. Financial Statements**

### StoneMor Partners L.P.

### **Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets**

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

	De	cember 31, 2005	June 30, 2006
ASSETS			
CURRENT ASSETS:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	6,925	\$ 4,824
Accounts receivable, net of allowance		29,991	30,770
Prepaid expenses		2,420	2,740
Other current assets		1,316	2,220
Total current assets		40,652	40,554
LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - net of allowance		33,672	31,988
CEMETERY PROPERTY		164,772	163,736
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulated depreciation		27,091	26,303
MERCHANDISE TRUSTS, restricted, at fair value		113,432	114,156
PERPETUAL CARE TRUSTS, restricted, at fair value		136,719	140,862
DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS - net of accumulated amortization		1,985	1,614
DEFERRED SELLING AND OBTAINING COSTS		30,554	32,240
OTHER ASSETS		1,958	2,017
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	550,835	\$ 553,470
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS EQUITY			
CURRENT LIABILITIES:			
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	7,461	\$ 5,521
Accrued interest		260	315
Current portion, long-term debt		641	505
Total current liabilities		8,362	6,341
LONG-TERM DEBT		86,304	90,205
DEFERRED CEMETERY REVENUES, net		167,844	174,160
MERCHANDISE LIABILITY		42,621	39,434
TOTAL LIABILITIES		305,131	310,140
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST IN PERPETUAL CARE TRUSTS		136,719	140,862
PARTNERS EQUITY			
General partner		1,537	1,406
Limited partners: Common		72,750	69,453

Subordinated	34,698	31,609
Total partners equity	108,985	102,468
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS EQUITY	\$ 550,835	\$ 553,470

See Accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

### StoneMor Partners L.P.

### **Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations**

(in thousands, except unit data)

(unaudited)

	Thr	Three months ended June 30, 2005 2006			,			June 30, 2006
Revenues:								
Cemetery	\$	24,699	\$	27,163	\$	45,044	\$	52,355
Funeral home		529		1,129		1,150		2,589
Total revenues		25,228		28,292		46,194		54,944
Costs and Expenses:								
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below):								
Land and crypts		1,625		1,416		2,588		2,863
Perpetual care		792		847		1,407		1,583
Merchandise		1,171		1,416		2,450		2,689
Cemetery expense		5,611		6,366		10,328		12,002
Selling expense		5,270		5,772		9,461		11,419
General and administrative expense		2,544		3,086		4,922		6,150
Corporate overhead		3,517		4,426		6,592		8,234
Depreciation and amortization		1,023		925		1,868		1,746
Funeral home expense		436		961		870		2,054
Total cost and expenses		21,989		25,215		40,486		48,740
OPERATING PROFIT		3,239		3,077		5,708		6,204
INTEREST EXPENSE		1,588		1,782		3,169		3,515
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES		1,651		1,295		2,539		2,689
INCOME TAXES:								
State		204		112		244		255
Federal		95		103		275		413
Total income taxes		299		215		519		668
NET INCOME	\$	1,352	\$	1,080	\$	2,020	\$	2,021
General partner s interest in net income for the period	\$	27	\$	22	\$	40	\$	40
Limited partners interest in net income for the period								
Common	\$	662	\$	546	\$	990	\$	1,023
Subordinated	\$	662	\$	512	\$	990	\$	958
Net income per limited partner unit (basic and diluted)	\$	.16	\$	.12	\$	.23	\$	.23
Weighted average number of limited partners units outstanding (basic and diluted)		8,480		8,760		8,480		8,760

See Accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Table of Contents 6

2

### StoneMor Partners L.P.

### **Condensed Consolidated Statement of**

### Partners Equity

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

	Partners Capital Limited Partners			General		
	Common	Sub	ordinated	Total	Partner	Total
Balance, December 31, 2005	\$ 72,750	\$	34,698	\$ 107,448	\$ 1,537	108,985
Net Income	476		446	922	19	941
Cash distribution	(2,148)		(2,013)	(4,161)	(86)	(4,247)
Balance, March 31, 2006	\$ 71,078	\$	33,131	\$ 104,209	\$ 1,470	\$ 105,679
Net Income	546		512	1,058	22	1,080
Cash distribution	(2,171)		(2,034)	(4,205)	(86)	(4,291)
Balance, June 30, 2006	\$ 69,453	\$	31,609	\$ 101,062	\$ 1,406	\$ 102,468

See Accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

### StoneMor Partners L.P.

### **Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows**

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

		nded June 30, 2006	
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:			
Net income	\$ 2,020	\$ 2,021	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activity:			
Cost of lots sold	2,018	2,210	
Depreciation and amortization	1,868	1,74	
Other		30	
Changes in assets and liabilities that provided (used) cash:			
Accounts receivable	185	12	
Allowance for doubtful accounts	(282)	78	
Merchandise trust fund	3,751	(86	
Prepaid expenses	(1,007)	(32	
Other current assets	(242)	(1	
Other assets	(18)	(5	
Accounts payable and accrued and other liabilities	(607)	(1,94	
Deferred selling and obtaining costs	(1,184)	(1,68	
Deferred cemetery revenue	4,631	6,39	
Merchandise liability	(3,956)	(3,24	
Net cash provided by operating activities	7,177	5,45	
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:			
Cost associated with potential acquisitions	(673)	(88)	
Additions to cemetery property	(1,485)	(2,46	
Divestiture of funeral home		2,09	
Additions to property and equipment	(1,628)	(1,52	
Net cash used in investing activities	(3,786)	(2,78	
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:			
Cash distribution	(8,439)	(8,53	
Additional borrowings on long-term debt	1,600	4,37	
Repayments of long-term debt		(61	
Cost of financing activities	(178)		
Net cash used in financing activities	(7,017)	(4,77	
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(3,626)	(2,10	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of period	14,474	6,92	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of period	\$ 10,848	\$ 4,82	
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION			
Cash paid during the period for interest	\$ 3,151	\$ 3,46	

Cash paid during the period for income taxes

\$ 728 \$ 3,024

See Accompanying Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

4

#### 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

**Basis of Presentation.** StoneMor Partners L.P. (StoneMor, the Partnership or the Company) headquartered in Bristol, Pennsylvania, is an owner and operator of cemeteries in the United States, with 154 cemeteries and 13 funeral homes in 13 states. StoneMor is the only publicly traded deathcare company structured as a partnership.

*Interim Financial Data* The interim financial data are unaudited. However, in the opinion of management, the interim financial data as of June 30, 2006 and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for a full year.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Significant accounting policies followed by the Company, as summarized below, are in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

**Principles of Consolidation** The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of each of the Company s subsidiaries. These statements also include the accounts of the merchandise and perpetual care trusts in which the Company has a variable interest and is the primary beneficiary. The operations of the 7 managed cemeteries that the Company operates under long-term management contracts are also consolidated in accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No. 46 revised (FIN 46R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities: an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51.

Total revenues derived from the cemeteries under long term management contracts totaled approximately \$9.4 million and \$4.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively and \$14.5 million and \$10.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Cemetery Operations Sales of at-need cemetery interment rights, merchandise and services are recognized when the service is performed or merchandise is delivered. In accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements (SAB No. 104), and the retail land sales provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 66, Accounting for the Sale of Real Estate (SFAS No. 66), revenues from pre-need sales of burial lots and constructed mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts are deferred until at least 10% of the sales price has been collected. At the time of the sale, an allowance for customer cancellations is established, which reduces the amount of accounts receivable, net and deferred cemetery revenues, net or cemetery revenue recognized, based on management s estimates of expected cancellations and historical experiences. Historically, the cancelled contracts represent approximately 10% of the pre-need sales (based on contract dollar amounts). Revenues from the pre-need sale of unconstructed mausoleum and lawn crypts are deferred until at least 10% of the sales price has been collected, at which point revenues are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, also in accordance with SFAS No. 66. Revenues related to the pre-need sale of merchandise and services are deferred until such merchandise is delivered (title has transferred to the customer and the merchandise is either installed or stored, at the direction of the customer, at the vendor s warehouse or a third-party warehouse at no additional cost to us) or such services are performed.

The Company also defers certain pre-need cemetery and prearranged funeral direct obtaining costs that vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of new pre-need cemetery and prearranged funeral business. Such costs are accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises (SFAS No. 60), and are expensed as revenues are recognized.

Costs related to the sales of interment rights include property and other costs related to cemetery development activities that are specifically identified by project. At the completion of a project, costs are charged to operations as revenues are recognized. Costs related to merchandise and services are based on actual costs incurred or estimates of future costs necessary, including provisions for inflation when required.

The Company records a merchandise liability at the time it enters into a pre-need contract with a customer at the estimated cost to purchase the merchandise or provide the service. The merchandise liability is reduced when payment for the merchandise is made by the Company and title to the merchandise is transferred to the customer. The merchandise liability is also reduced when the contracted service is performed by the Company. Allowances for customer cancellations arising from non-payment are provided at the date of sale based upon management s estimates of expected cancellations and historical experience. Actual cancellation rates in the future may result in a change in estimate. Actual cancellations did not vary significantly from the estimates of expected cancellations at June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2006.

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeds from cemetery merchandise or services sold on a pre-need basis is required to be paid into merchandise trusts. The Company defers investment earnings generated by the assets in these merchandise trusts (including realized gains and losses) until the associated merchandise is delivered or the services are performed. The fair value of the funds held in merchandise trusts at December 31, 2005 and June 30, 2006 was approximately \$113.4 million and \$114.2 million, respectively (see Note 5). A portion of the proceeds from the sale of cemetery property is required by state law to be paid into perpetual care trusts. Earnings from the perpetual care trusts are recognized in current cemetery revenues and are used to defray cemetery maintenance costs, which are expensed as incurred. Funds held in perpetual care trusts at December 31, 2005 and June 30, 2006 were \$136.7 million and \$141.0 million, respectively (see Note 6).

*Cash and Cash Equivalents* The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk The Company s revenues and accounts receivable relate to the sale of products and services to a customer base that is almost entirely concentrated in the states where the Company has cemeteries and funeral homes. The Company retains a security interest in any merchandise sold pursuant to the pre-need contracts. The condensed consolidated balance sheets contain a provision for cancellations arising from non-payment in amounts determined based on historical experience and the judgment of Company s management.

*Inventories* Inventories, classified as other current assets on the Company s condensed consolidated balance sheets, include cemetery and funeral home merchandise and are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined primarily on a specific identification basis on a first-in, first-out basis. Inventories were approximately \$1.0 million and \$1.1 million at December 31, 2005 and June 30, 2006, respectively.

*Cemetery Property* Cemetery property consists of developed and undeveloped cemetery property and constructed mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts and is valued at cost, which is not in excess of market value.

**Property and Equipment** Property and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, whereas additions and major replacements are capitalized and depreciation is recorded over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and improvements 10 to 40 years
Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years
Leasehold improvements over the term of the lease

For the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, depreciation expense was \$1.5 million and \$1.3 million, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, depreciation expense was \$2.3 million and \$2.1 million, respectively.

Deferred Cemetery Revenues, Net Revenues and all costs associated with pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and services are deferred until the merchandise is delivered or the services are performed. In addition, investment earnings generated by the assets included in the merchandise trusts are deferred until the associated merchandise is delivered or the services are performed. Deferred cemetery revenues, net, also includes deferred revenues from pre-need sales that were entered into by entities prior to the acquisition of those entities by the Company, including entities that were acquired by Cornerstone Family Services, Inc., the predecessor to the Company (Cornerstone) upon its formation in 1999. The Company provides for a reasonable profit margin for these deferred revenues (deferred margin) to account for the future costs of delivering products and providing services on pre-need contracts that the Company acquired through acquisition. Deferred margin amounts are deferred until the merchandise is delivered or services are performed.

**Merchandise Liability** Merchandise liability accounts for merchandise and services that have been contracted for but not yet delivered or performed. This liability is recorded at the estimated cost and is expensed to cost of goods sold as merchandise is delivered and services are performed.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets The Company monitors the recoverability of long-lived assets, including cemetery property, property and equipment and other assets, based on estimates using factors such as current market value, future asset utilization, business and regulatory climate and future undiscounted cash flow expected to result from the use of the related assets. The Company s policy is to evaluate an asset for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that a long-lived asset s carrying value may not be recovered. An impairment charge is recorded to write-down the asset to its fair value if the sum of future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset.

6

#### **Table of Contents**

*Income Taxes* The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. The tax effects of temporary differences between income for financial statement and income tax purposes are recognized in the financial statements. The differences arise primarily from receivables and depreciation.

#### New Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2004, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) 03-1, Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. EITF 03-1 includes new guidance for evaluating and recording impairment losses on debt and equity investments, as well as new disclosure requirements for investments that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. In September 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position EITF 03-1-1, which delays the effective date until additional guidance is issued for the application of the recognition and measurement provisions of EITF 03-1 to investments and securities that are impaired. In June 2005, the FASB decided not to provide additional guidance on the meaning of other-than-temporary impairment, and directed the staff to issue proposed FSP EITF 03-1-a, Implementation Guidance for the Application of Paragraph 16 of EITF Issue No. 03-01, as final. The final FSP (retitled FSP FAS 115-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments) replaces the guidance set forth in paragraphs 10-18 of EITF Issue 03-1 with reference to existing other-than-temporary impairment guidance. FSP FAS 115-1 is effective for other-than-temporary analyses conducted in periods beginning after December 15, 2005. This pronouncement as it relates to the Company s trusts did not have a current impact on the condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company.

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) released Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections-a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3, (FAS 154). FAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods financial statements for any changes in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. This statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The impact of FAS 154 will depend on the nature and extent of any voluntary accounting changes or error corrections after the effective date. At June 30, 2006 this statement did not have an impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

At its March 28, 2006 meeting, the FASB approved the issuance of a draft abstract EITF Issue No. 06-3, *How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)*, which addresses the income statement disclosure on taxes assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer, and may include, but are not limited to, sales, use, value added, and some excise taxes. The presentation of taxes on either a gross (included in revenues and costs) or a net (excluded from revenues) basis is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed pursuant to Opinion 22. In addition, for any such taxes that are reported on a gross basis, a company should disclose the amounts of those taxes in interim and annual financial statements for each period for which an income statement is presented if those amounts are significant and can be done on an aggregate basis. When issued, EITF Issue No. 06-3 would be effective for financial reports for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company currently accounts for taxes on a net basis; therefore EITF 06-3 should not have any significant impact on the Company s financial condition or results of operations.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation requires that the Company recognize in its financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of the beginning of the Company s 2007 fiscal year, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on its financial statements.

Use of Estimates Preparation of these condensed consolidated financial statements requires that management make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during the reporting periods. As a result, actual results could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates in the financial statements are the allowance for cancellations, merchandise liability, deferred margin, deferred merchandise trust investment earnings, deferred obtaining costs and income taxes. Deferred margin and deferred merchandise trust investment earnings are included in deferred cemetery revenues, net, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

7

Segment Reporting and Related Information The Company has one reportable segment, death care services.

Disclosure of reported segment revenue:

	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended	
	2005	e 30, 2006 usands)	June 30, 2005 20 (in thousand	
Revenues:				
Cemetery:				
Sales	\$ 14,606	\$ 15,854	\$ 25,883	\$ 30,857
Services and other	5,437	6,704	10,768	13,625
Investment, including realized gains from merchandise trusts and receivables	3,663	3,813	6,445	6,645
Deferred margin, recognized	993	792	1,948	1,228
	24,699	27,163	45,044	52,355
Funeral home revenues	529	1,129	1,150	2,589
Total revenues	\$ 25,228	\$ 28,292	\$ 46,194	\$ 54,944

### 2. LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCE

Long-term accounts receivable, net, consist of the following:

	December 31,	June 30,
	2005 (in thou	2006 (sands)
Customer receivables	\$ 80,755	\$ 82,348
Unearned finance income	(7,831)	(8,715)
Allowance for contract cancellations	(9,261)	(10,875)
	63,663	62,758
Less: current portion - net of allowance	29,991	30,770
Long-term portion - net of allowance	\$ 33,672	\$ 31,988

Activity in the allowance for contract cancellations is as follows:

	December 31,	June 30,
	2005	2006
	(in thou	sands)
Balance - Beginning of period	\$ 8,948	\$ 9,261
Provision for cancellations	6,490	4,372
Charge-offs - net	(6,177)	(2,758)
Balance - End of period	\$ 9,261	\$ 10,875

### 3. CEMETERY PROPERTY

Cemetery property consists of the following:

	December 31,	June 30,
	2005	2006
	(in thou	sands)
Developed land	\$ 21,165	\$ 20,246
Undeveloped land	110,556	109,583
Mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts	33,051	33,907
Total	\$ 164,772	\$ 163,736

### 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Major classes of property and equipment follow:

	December 31,	June 30,
	2005 (in thou	2006
Building and improvements	\$ 26,242	\$ 26,080
Furniture and equipment	20,784	21,318
	47,026	47,398
Less: accumulated depreciation	(19,935)	(21,095)
Property and equipment net	\$ 27,091	\$ 26,303

### 5. PRE-NEED MERCHANDISE AND SERVICES AND MERCHANDISE TRUSTS.

**Cemetery** In connection with the pre-need sale of cemetery interment rights, merchandise and services, the customer typically enters into an installment contract with the Company. The contract is usually for a period not to exceed 60 months with payments of principal and interest required. Interest is imputed for contracts that do not bear a market rate of interest (at a rate of 6.75% during the year ended December 31, 2005 and 8.75% during the six months ended June 30, 2006). The Company establishes an allowance for cancellations due to non-payment at the date of sale based on historic experience and management s estimates. The allowance is reviewed quarterly and changes in estimates are reflected for

current and prior contracts as a result of recent cancellation experience. Actual cancellation rates in the future may result in a change in estimate.

The Company evaluates the collectibility of the assets held in merchandise trusts for impairment when the fair values of the assets are below the recorded asset balance. Assets are deemed to be impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts from the merchandise trust at the time such amounts are due. In those instances when the amount is deemed to be impaired, the merchandise trust is reduced to the currently estimated recoverable amount with a corresponding reduction to the associated deferred cemetery revenues balance. There is no income statement impact as long as deferred revenues are not below the estimated costs to deliver the underlying products or services. If the deferred revenue were to decrease below the estimated cost to deliver the underlying products or services, the Company would record a charge to earnings for the difference.

9

At December 31, 2005, the cost and market value associated with the assets held in merchandise trusts follows:

	Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains (In Th	Gross Unrealized Losses ousands)	Market
Short-term investment	\$ 11,651	\$	\$	\$ 11,651
Fixed maturities:				
U.S. Government and federal agency	2,408	1	(48)	2,361
U.S. State and local government agency	1,946	1	(10)	1,937
Corporate debt securities	4,113	10	(133)	3,990
Other debt securities	47,212	59	(759)	46,512
Total fixed maturities	55,679	71	(950)	54,800
Equity securities	47,944	1,192	(2,155)	46,981
Total	\$ 115,274	\$ 1,263	\$ (3,105)	\$ 113,432

At June 30, 2006, the cost and market value associated with the assets held in merchandise trusts follows:

	Cost	Unr	Gross ealized Gains (In Tho	Gross Unrealized Losses ousands)	Market
Short-term investment	\$ 11,297	\$		\$	11,297
Fixed maturities:					
U.S. Government and federal agency	3,375			(105)	3,270
U.S. State and local government agency	1,920			(84)	1,836
Corporate debt securities	4,074		13	(162)	3,925
Other debt securities	42,762			(1,569)	41,193
Total fixed maturities	52,131		13	(1,920)	50,224
Equity securities	52,654		1,696	(1,715)	52,635
Total	\$ 116,082	\$	1,709	\$ (3,635)	\$ 114,156

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities at June 30, 2006 is presented below:

	Less than Fair Value	12 months Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	hs or more Unrealized Losses ousands)	T Fair Value	otal Unrealized Losses
Fixed maturities:						
U.S. Government and federal agency	\$ 1,811	\$ 29	\$ 1,459	\$ 76	\$ 3,270	\$ 105
U.S. State and local government agency	1,636	70	201	14	1,837	84
Corporate debt securities	2,417	124	814	38	3,231	162
Other debt securities	8,866	414	23,879	1,155	32,745	1,569

Total fixed maturities	14,730	63'	7 26,353	1,283	41,083	1,920
Equity securities	20,099	1,522	2,231	193	22,330	1,715
Total	\$ 34,829	\$ 2,159	9 \$ 28,584	\$ 1,476	\$ 63,413	\$ 3,635

The Company considers various factors when considering if a decline in fair value of an asset is other than temporary, including but not limited to the length of time and magnitude of the unrealized loss; the volatility of the investment; the credit ratings of the issuers of the investments; and the Company s intentions to sell or ability to hold the investments. At June 30, 2006, the Company has concluded that the declines in the fair values of the Company s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities held by the merchandise trusts are temporary.

The company deposited \$4,528 and \$3,078 and withdrew \$7,698 and \$4,592 from the trusts during the three month period ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2005, purchase and sales of securities available for sale included in trust investments were \$25,211 and \$29,113, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2006, purchase and sales of securities available for sale included in trust investments were \$17,605 and \$17,330, respectively.

**Funeral Home** Prearranged funeral home services provide for future funeral home services generally determined by prices prevailing at the time that the contract is signed. A portion of the payments made under funeral home pre-need contracts is placed in funeral trusts. Amounts used to defray the initial cost of administration are not placed in trust. The balance of the amounts in the trusts totaled approximately \$1.6 million at December 31, 2005 and approximately \$1.6 million at June 30, 2006 and are included within the merchandise trusts above. Funeral trust principal, together with investment earnings retained in trust, are deferred until the service is performed. Upon performance of the contracted funeral home service, the Company recognizes the funeral trust principal amount together with the accumulated trust earnings as funeral home revenues.

### 6. PERPETUAL CARE TRUSTS.

At December 31, 2005, the cost and market value associated with the assets held in perpetual care trust follows:

	Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains (In Tho	Gross Unrealized Losses ousands)	Market
Short-term investment	\$ 13,400	\$	\$	\$ 13,400
Fixed maturities:				
U.S. Government and federal agency	3,988	9	(69)	3,928
U.S. State and local government agency	1,673	11	(13)	1,671
Corporate debt securities	14,609	212	(271)	14,550
Other debt securities	66,392	535	(300)	66,627
Total fixed maturities	86,662	767	(653)	86,776
Equity Securities	34,993	1,882	(332)	36,543
Total	\$ 135,055	\$ 2,649	\$ (985)	\$ 136,719

At June 30, 2006, the cost and market value associated with the assets held in perpetual care trust follows:

	Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains (In Th	Gross Unrealized Losses ousands)	Market
Short-term investment	\$ 16,310	\$	\$	\$ 16,310
Fixed maturities:				
U.S. Government and federal agency	4,010	4	(116)	3,898
U.S. State and local government agency	1,675	7	(33)	1,649
Corporate debt securities	14,923	148	(407)	14,664
Other debt securities	60,965	1,935	(461)	62,439
Total fixed maturities	81,573	2,094	(1,017)	82,650
Equity Securities	38,926	3,443	(467)	41,902
Total	\$ 136,809	\$ 5,537	\$ (1,484)	\$ 140,862

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities at June 30, 2006 held in perpetual care trusts is presented below:

	Less than Fair Value	Uni	nonths realized Losses	12 Mont Fair Value (In Th	Unro Lo	ealized osses	T Fair Value	_	realized Losses
Fixed maturities:									
U.S. Government and federal agency	\$ 2,878	\$	81	\$ 827	\$	35	\$ 3,705	\$	116
U.S. State and local government agency	980		20	304		13	1,284		33
Corporate debt securities	7,372		286	3,309		121	10,681		407
Other debt securities	9,814		461				9,814		461
Total fixed maturities	21,044		848	4,440		169	25,484		1,017
Equity Securities	7,028		267	4,952		200	11,980		467
Total	\$ 28,072	\$	1,115	\$ 9,392	\$	369	\$ 37,464	\$	1,484

The Company considers various factors when considering if a decline in fair value of an asset is other than temporary, including but not limited to the length of time and magnitude of the unrealized loss; the volatility of the investment; the credit ratings of the issuers of the investments; and the Company s intentions to sell or ability to hold the investments. At June 30, 2006, the Company has concluded that the declines in the fair values of the Company s investments in fixed maturities and equity securities held in perpetual care trusts are temporary.

The company deposited \$1,095 and \$1,126 and withdrew \$1,442 and \$1,435 from the trusts during the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2005, purchase and sales of securities available for sale included in trust investments were \$14,146 and \$10,717, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2006, purchase and sales of securities available for sale included in trust investments were \$22,767 and \$17,756, respectively.

The Company recorded income from perpetual care trusts of \$ \$1.7 million and \$3.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively and \$2.5 million and \$4.4 million during the same period of 2006. This income is classified as cemetery revenues in the consolidated statements of operations.

#### 7. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of debt outstanding at:

	December 31, 2005 (In Thou	June 30, 2006 usands)
Insurance premium financing, due in installments through September 2006 (4.75%)	437	355
Covenants not to compete due through August 2007 (non-interest bearing)	258	144
Vehicle Financing		61
Acquisition Credit Line, due September 2008 (interest rate - Libor + 3.5%)	5,250	5,250
Revolving Credit Line, due September 2007 (interest rate - Libor + 3.5%)	1,000	4,900
Senior secured notes, due 2009 (interest rate 7.66%)	80,000	80,000
Total	86,945	90,710
Less current portion	641	505
Long-term portion	\$ 86,304	\$ 90,205

On September 20, 2004, concurrent with the closing of the Partnership s initial public offering, StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries issued and sold \$80.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes. The senior secured notes rank pari passu with all of our other senior secured debt, including the revolving credit facility and the acquisition facility, subject to the description of the collateral securing the senior secured notes described below. The senior secured notes are guaranteed by the Partnership, the general partner of the Partnership and any future subsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC. Obligations under the senior secured notes are secured by a first priority lien and security interest covering substantially all of the assets of the issuers of the senior secured notes, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, other than specified receivable rights and a second priority lien and security interest covering those specified receivable rights, each as described above, of such issuers, whether then owned or thereafter acquired.

On September 20, 2004, concurrent with the closing of the Partnership's initial public offering, StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries entered into a new \$35.0 million credit facility with a group of banks. This credit facility consists of a \$12.5 million revolving credit line and a \$22.5 million acquisition line of credit. Borrowings under the revolving credit line are due and payable on September 20, 2007, and borrowings under the acquisition line of credit are due and payable on September 20, 2008. Depending on the type of loan, this credit facility bears interest at the Base Rate or the Eurodollar Rate, plus applicable margins ranging from 0.00% to 1% and 2.5% to 3.5% per annum, respectively, depending on our ratio of total debt to consolidated EBIDTA, as defined. The Base Rate is the higher of the federal funds rate plus 0.05% or the prime rate announced by Fleet National Bank, a Bank of America Company. The Eurodollar Rate is to be determined by the administrative agent according to the credit facility. As of June 30, 2006, we had outstanding borrowings of \$4.9 million under our revolving credit line. As of June 30, 2006, we had \$5.25 million outstanding under our acquisition line of credit which we borrowed for the acquisition of 22 cemeteries and 6 funeral homes from Service Corporation International in November 2005.

Borrowings under the credit facility rank pari passu with all of our other senior secured debt, including the senior secured notes, subject to the description of the collateral securing the credit facility described below. Borrowings under the credit facility are guaranteed by the Partnership and the general partner of the Partnership.

Our obligations under the revolving facility are secured by a first priority lien and security interest in specified receivable rights, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, of the borrower and the guarantors and by a second priority lien and security interest in substantially all assets other than those receivable rights of the borrower and the guarantors, excluding trust accounts and certain proceeds required by law to be placed into such trust accounts and funds held in trust accounts, our general partner s interest in the Partnership and our general partner s incentive distribution rights under the Partnership s partnership agreement. These assets secure the acquisition facility and our senior secured notes. The specified receivable rights include all accounts and other rights to payment arising under customer contracts or agreements (other than amounts required to be deposited into merchandise and perpetual care trusts) or management agreements, and all inventory, general intangibles and other rights reasonably related to the collection and performance of these accounts and rights to payment.

Our obligations under the acquisition facility are secured by a first priority lien and security interest in substantially all assets, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, other than specified receivable rights of the borrower and the guarantors, excluding trust accounts and certain proceeds required by law to be placed into such trust accounts and funds held in trust accounts, our general partner s interest in the Partnership and our general partner s incentive distribution rights under the Partnership s partnership agreement, and a secondary priority lien and security interest in those specified receivable rights of the borrower and the guarantors. The senior secured notes will share pari passu in the collateral securing the acquisition facility.

The agreements governing the revolving credit facility, the acquisition line of credit and the senior secured notes contain restrictive covenants that, among other things, prohibit distributions upon defined events of default, restrict investments and sales of assets and require us to maintain certain financial covenants, including specified financial ratios. As of June 30, 2006, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

Deferred financing costs as of June 30, 2006 consisted of approximately \$2.9 million of debt issuance costs, less accumulated amortization of approximately \$1.3 million. These costs were incurred in connection with the issuance of the Company s senior secured notes during September 2004.

#### 8. INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2005, the Company s taxable corporate subsidiaries had a federal net operating loss carryover of approximately \$35.4 million, which will begin to expire in 2019. As of December 31, 2005, the Company also had a state net operating loss carry-forward of approximately \$46.0 million, a portion of which expires annually.

Effective with the closing of the Partnership s initial public offering on September 20, 2004, the Company was no longer a taxable entity for federal and state income tax purposes; rather, the Partnership s tax attributes (except those of its corporate subsidiaries) are to be included in the individual tax returns of its partners. Neither the Partnership s financial reporting income, nor the cash distributions to unitholders, can be used as a substitute for the detailed tax calculations that the Partnership must perform annually for its partners. Net income from the Partnership is not treated as passive income for federal income tax purposes. As a result, partners subject to the passive activity loss rules are not permitted to offset income from the Partnership with passive losses from other sources.

The tax returns of the Partnership are subject to examination by state and federal tax authorities. If such examinations result in changes to taxable income, the tax liability of the partners could be changed accordingly.

The Partnership's corporate subsidiaries account for their income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. These assets are fully reserved as they are more likely than not to be recognized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

The provision for income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2006 is based upon the estimated annual effective tax rates expected to be applicable to the Company for 2005 and 2006, respectively.

#### 9. DEFERRED CEMETERY REVENUES NET

In accordance with SAB No. 104, the Company defers the revenues and all direct costs associated with the sale of pre-need cemetery merchandise and services until the merchandise is delivered or the services are performed. The Company also defers the costs to obtain new

pre-need cemetery and new prearranged funeral business as well as the investment earnings on the prearranged services and merchandise trusts (see Note 1). At December 31, 2005 and June 30, 2006, deferred cemetery revenues, net, consisted of the following:

	December 31, 2005 (In Tho	June 30, 2006
Deferred cemetery revenue	\$ 136,299	\$ 143,867
Deferred merchandise trust revenue	20,166	21,250
Deferred pre-acquisition margin	32,151	30,924
Deferred cost of good sold	(20,772)	(21,881)
Deferred cemetery revenues, net	\$ 167,844	\$ 174,160
Deferred selling and obtaining costs	\$ 30,554	\$ 32,240

Deferred selling and obtaining costs are carried as an asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheet in accordance with FAS 60.

#### 10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

**Legal** The Company is party to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business but does not expect the outcome of any proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

*Leases* At June 30, 2006, the Company was committed to operating lease payments for premises, automobiles and office equipment under various operating leases with initial terms ranging from one to five years and options to renew at varying terms. Expenses under operating leases were \$0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006 and \$0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005.

At June 30, 2006, operating leases will result in future payments in the following approximate amounts:

	(in thousands)
2006	\$ 276
2007	475
2008	469
2009	447
2010	365
Thereafter	1,124
Total	\$ 3,156

Tax Indemnification CFSI LLC (formerly Cornerstone Family Services, Inc., the Company s predecessor) has agreed to indemnify the Company for all federal, state and local income tax liabilities attributable to the operation of the assets contributed by CFSI LLC to us prior to September 20, 2004. CFSI LLC has also agreed to indemnify us against additional income tax liabilities, if any, that arise from the consummation of the transactions related to our formation in excess of those believed to result at the time of the closing of our initial public offering. CFSI LLC has also agreed to indemnify us against the increase in income tax liabilities of our corporate subsidiaries resulting from any reduction or elimination of our net operating losses to the extent those net operating losses are used to offset any income tax gain or income resulting from the prior operation of the assets of CFSI LLC contributed to us, or from our formation transactions in excess of such gain or income believed to result at September 20, 2004.

**Management Contract-** As of June 30, 2006, one of the management contracts under which we operate one of our locations is in negotiation for renewal. The Company consolidates this location in accordance with FIN 46R (see Note 1.). We are continuing to operate under the terms and conditions of the old agreement. In the event that we do not negotiate a new contract we will discontinue consolidating this entity and our investment will be evaluated for recoverability. If it is determined to be impaired, we would record a non-cash charge of approximately \$0.3 million.

14

#### **Table of Contents**

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005 we received \$154,000, \$190,527 and \$164,930 in net management fees from this location. Additionally, we will be required to evaluate the collectibility of an intercompany receivable in the amount of approximately \$0.7 million, which may increase the amount of the non-cash charge.

### Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The words we, us, our, Company and similar words, when used in a historical context prior to the closing of the initial public offering of StoneMor Partners L.P. on September 20, 2004, refer to Cornerstone Family Services, Inc. (and, after its conversion, CFSI LLC) and its subsidiaries and thereafter refer to StoneMor Partners L.P. and its subsidiaries.

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (including the notes thereto).

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including, but not limited to, information regarding the status and progress of StoneMor's operating activities, the plans and objectives of StoneMor's management, assumptions regarding StoneMor's future performance and plans, and any financial guidance provided, as well as certain information in other filings with the SEC and elsewhere, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A(i) of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E(i) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The words believe, may, estimate, continues, anticipate, intend, project, expect predict, and similar expressions identify these will, statements. These forward-looking statements are made subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those stated, including, but not limited to, the following: future revenue and revenue growth; the impact of StoneMor s significant leverage on its operating plans; the ability of StoneMor to service its debt; StoneMor s ability to attract, train and retain an adequate number of sales people; uncertainties associated with the volume and timing of pre-need sales of cemetery services and products; variances in death rates; variances in the use of cremation; changes in the political or regulatory environments, including potential changes in tax accounting and trusting policies; StoneMor s ability to successfully implement a strategic plan relating to producing operating improvement, strong cash flows and further deleveraging; uncertainties associated with the integration or the anticipated benefits of the acquisition of assets in November 2005; information disclosed within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; and various other uncertainties associated with the deathcare industry and StoneMor s operations in particular.

When considering forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary statements set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We assume no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements made herein or any other forward-looking statements made by us, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

#### Overview

On April 2, 2004, StoneMor Partners L.P. (StoneMor, the Partnership, or the Company) was created to own and operate the cemetery and funeral home business conducted by Cornerstone Family Services, Inc. (Cornerstone) and its subsidiaries. On September 20, 2004, in connection with the initial public offering by the Partnership of common units representing limited partner interests, Cornerstone contributed to the Partnership substantially all of the assets, liabilities and businesses owned and operated by it, and then converted into CFSI LLC, a limited liability company. This transfer represented a reorganization of entities under common control and was recorded at historical cost. In exchange for these assets, liabilities and businesses, CFSI LLC received 564,782 common units and 4,239,782 subordinated units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership.

Cornerstone was founded in 1999 by members of our management team and a private equity investment firm, which we refer to as McCown De Leeuw, in order to acquire a group of 123 cemetery properties and 4 funeral homes. Since that time, Cornerstone acquired 32 additional cemeteries and eight funeral homes, built two funeral homes and sold one cemetery and one funeral home.

*Initial Public Offering.* On September 20, 2004, StoneMor completed its initial public offering of 3,675,000 common units at a price of \$20.50 per unit representing a 42.5% interest in us. On September 23, 2004, StoneMor sold an additional 551,250 common units to the underwriters in connection with the exercise of their

over-allotment option and redeemed an equal number of common units from CFSI LLC at a cost of \$5.3 million, making a total of 4,239,782 common units outstanding. Total gross proceeds from these sales were \$86.6 million, before offering costs and underwriting discounts. The net proceeds to the Partnership, after deducting underwriting discounts but before paying offering costs, from these sales of common units was \$80.8 million. Concurrent with the initial public offering, the Partnership s wholly owned subsidiary, StoneMor Operating LLC, and its subsidiaries, all as borrowers, issued and sold \$80.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes in a private placement and entered into a \$12.5 million revolving credit facility and a \$22.5 million acquisition facility with a group of banks. The net proceeds of the initial public offering and the sale of senior secured notes were used to repay the debt and associated accrued interest of approximately \$135.1 million of CFSI LLC and \$15.7 million of fees and expenses associated with the initial public offering and the sale of senior secured notes. The remaining funds have been used for general partnership purposes, including the construction of mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts, the purchases of equipment needed to install burial vaults and the acquisition of cemetery and funeral home locations.

We are an owner and operator of cemeteries in the United States of America. As of June 30, 2006, the Company operated 154 cemeteries in 13 states, located primarily in the eastern United States of America. The Company owns 147 of these cemeteries and operates the remaining 7 under long-term management agreements with cemetery associations that own the cemeteries. As a result of the agreements and other control arrangements, StoneMor consolidates the results of the 7 managed cemeteries in our historical consolidated financial statements.

StoneMor sells cemetery products and services both at the time of death, which the Company refers to as at-need, and prior to the time of death, which the Company refers to as pre-need. During the first six months of 2006, StoneMor performed over 12,500 burials and sold more then 7,800 interment rights (net of cancellations) compared to 11,300 and 7,500, respectively, for the same period of 2005.

#### **Cemetery Operations**

Sources of Revenues. Our results of operations are determined primarily by the volume of sales of products and services and the timing of product delivery and performance of services. We derive our revenues primarily from:

at-need sales of cemetery interment rights, merchandise and services, which we recognize as revenues at the time of sale;

pre-need sales of cemetery interment rights, which we generally recognize as revenues when we have collected 10% of the sales price from the customer;

pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise, which we recognize as revenues when we satisfy the criteria specified below for delivery of the merchandise to the customer;

pre-need sales of cemetery services, other than perpetual care services, which we recognize as revenues when we perform the services for the customer;

accumulated merchandise trust earnings related to the delivery of pre-need cemetery merchandise and the performance of pre-need cemetery services, which we recognize as revenues when we deliver the merchandise or perform the services;

income from perpetual care trusts, which we recognize as revenues as the income is earned in the trust; and

other items, such as interest income on pre-need installment contracts and sales of land.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and the related accumulated merchandise trust earning.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and the related accumulated merchandise trust earnings are deferred until the merchandise is delivered to the customer, which generally means that:

the merchandise is complete and ready for installation or, in the case of merchandise other than burial vaults, storage on third-party premises;

the merchandise is either installed or stored at an off-site location, at no additional cost to us, and specifically identified with a particular customer, except as described below; and

the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the customer.

We generally satisfy these delivery criteria by purchasing the merchandise and either installing it on our cemetery property or storing it, at the customer s request, in third-party warehouses, at no additional cost to us, until the time of need. With respect to burial vaults, we install the vaults rather than storing them to satisfy the delivery criteria. When merchandise is stored for a customer, we may issue a certificate of ownership to the customer to evidence the transfer to the customer of the risks and rewards of ownership.

16

Deferred Cemetery Revenues, Net. Deferred revenues from pre-need sales and related merchandise trust earnings are reflected on our balance sheet in deferred cemetery revenues, net, until we recognize the amounts as revenues. Deferred cemetery revenues, net, also includes deferred revenues from pre-need sales that were entered into by entities we acquired prior to the time we acquired them. These entities include those that we acquired at the time of the formation of Cornerstone and other entities we subsequently acquired. We recognize revenues from these acquired pre-need sales in the manner described above that is, when we deliver the merchandise to, or perform the services for, the customer. Our profit margin on these pre-need sales is generally less than our profit margin on other pre-need sales because, in accordance with industry practice at the time these acquired pre-need sales were made, none of the selling expenses were recognized at the time of sale. As a result, we are required to recognize all of the expenses (including deferred selling expenses) associated with these acquired pre-need sale when we recognize the revenues from that sale. We recognize certain expenses, such as indirect selling costs, maintenance costs and general and administrative costs, at the time the pre-need sale is made and defer other expenses, such as direct selling costs and costs of goods sold, until we recognize revenues on the sale. As a result, our profit margin on current pre-need sales is generally higher than on the pre-need sales we acquired.

#### **Funeral Home Operations**

We also derive revenues from the sale of funeral home merchandise, including caskets and related funeral merchandise, and services, including removal and preparation of remains, the use of our facilities for visitation, worship and performance of funeral services and transportation services. These services and merchandise are sold by us almost exclusively at the time of need by salaried licensed funeral directors.

We generally include revenues from pre-need casket sales in the results of our cemetery operations. However, some states require that caskets be sold by funeral homes, and revenues from casket sales in those states are included in our funeral home results. We do not report the results of our funeral home operations as a separate business segment.

Eight of our 13 funeral homes are located on the grounds of cemeteries that we own. As a result, we are able to combine certain general and administrative expenses that relate to both the cemetery and the funeral home at the same location. Our other funeral home operating expenses consist primarily of compensation to our funeral directors and the cost of caskets.

### **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on the historical consolidated financial statements of StoneMor. We prepared these financial statements in conformity with Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements required us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affected the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. We based our estimates, judgments and assumptions on historical experience and known facts and other assumptions that we believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In future periods, we expect to make similar estimates, judgments and assumptions on the same basis as we have historically. Our actual results in future periods may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that the following accounting policies or estimates had or will have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements for the periods discussed and for future periods.

Revenue Recognition. At-need sales of cemetery interment rights, merchandise and services and at-need sales of funeral home merchandise and services are recognized as revenues when the interment rights or merchandise is delivered or the services are performed.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery interment rights in constructed burial property are deferred until at least 10% of the sales price has been collected. Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery interment rights in unconstructed burial property, such as mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts, are deferred until at least 10% of the sales price has been collected, at which time revenues are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. The percentage-of-completion method of accounting requires us to estimate the percentage of completion as of the balance sheet date and future costs (including estimates for future inflation). Changes to our estimates of the percentage of completion or the related future costs would impact the amount of recognized and deferred revenues.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and services are deferred until the merchandise is delivered or the services are performed. Investment earnings generated by funds required to be deposited into merchandise trusts, including realized gains and losses, in connection with pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and services are deferred until the associated merchandise is delivered or the services are performed.

#### **Table of Contents**

We defer recognition of the direct costs associated with pre-need sales of cemetery products and services. Direct costs are those costs that vary with and are directly related to obtaining new pre-need cemetery business and the actual cost of the products and services we sell. Direct costs are expensed when the related revenues are recognized. Until that time, direct costs are reflected on our balance sheet in deferred cemetery revenues, net.

Allowance for Cancellations. Allowances for cancellations arising from non-payment of pre-need contracts are estimated at the date of sale based upon our historical cancellation experience. Due to the number of estimates and projections used in determining an expected cancellation rate and the possibility of changes in collection patterns resulting from modifications to our collection policies or contract terms, actual collections could differ from these estimates.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We monitor the recoverability of long-lived assets, including cemetery property, property and equipment, merchandise and perpetual care trusts, and other assets, based on estimates using factors such as current market value, future asset utilization, business and regulatory climate and future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the related assets. Our policy is to record an impairment loss in the period when it is determined that the sum of future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset. Modifications to our estimates could result in our recording impairment charges in future periods.

*Property and Equipment.* Property and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, whereas additions and major replacements are capitalized and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. We estimate that the useful lives of our buildings and improvements are 10 to 40 years, that the useful lives of our furniture and equipment are 5 to 10 years and that the useful lives of our leasehold improvements are the respective terms of the leases. These estimates could be impacted in the future by changes in market conditions or other factors.

*Income Taxes.* We make estimates and judgments to calculate some of our tax liabilities and determine the recoverability of some of our deferred tax assets, which arise from temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenues and expenses. We also estimate a reserve for deferred tax assets if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods.

In evaluating our ability to recover deferred tax assets, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including our past operating results, recent cumulative losses and our forecast of future taxable income. In determining future taxable income, we make assumptions for the amount of taxable income, the reversal of temporary differences and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require us to make judgments about our future taxable income and are consistent with the plans and estimates we use to manage our business. Any reduction in estimated future taxable income may require us to record an additional valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. An increase in the valuation allowance would result in additional income tax expense in the period and could have a significant impact on our future earnings.

We expect to reduce the amount of our taxable income as a result of our treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes. However, some of our operations will be continue to be conducted through corporate subsidiaries that will be subject to applicable U.S. federal and state income taxes. Accordingly, changes in our income tax plans and estimates may impact our earnings in future periods.

As of December 31, 2005, Stonemor Partners L.P., and its affiliated group of corporate subsidiaries had a consolidated federal net operating loss carryover of approximately \$35.4 million and state net operating losses of approximately \$46.0 million. These federal and state net operating losses will begin to expire in 2019 and expire annually, respectively, and are available to reduce future taxable income of our taxable subsidiaries that would otherwise be subject to federal income taxes. Our ability to use such federal net operating losses may be limited by changes in the ownership of our units deemed to result in an ownership change under the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

For additional information about, among other things, our pre-need sales, at-need sales, trusting requirements, cash flow, expenses and operations, please see Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and our other reports and statements filed with the SEC.

18

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In March 2004, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) 03-1, Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. EITF 03-1 includes new guidance for evaluating and recording impairment losses on debt and equity investments, as well as new disclosure requirements for investments that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. In September 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position EITF 03-1-1, which delays the effective date until additional guidance is issued for the application of the recognition and measurement provisions of EITF 03-1 to investments and securities that are impaired. In June 2005, the FASB decided not to provide additional guidance on the meaning of other-than-temporary impairment, and directed the staff to issue proposed FSP EITF 03-1-a, Implementation Guidance for the Application of Paragraph 16 of EITF Issue No. 03-01, as final. The final FSP (retitled FSP FAS 115-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments) replaces the guidance set forth in paragraphs 10-18 of EITF Issue 03-1 with reference to existing other-than-temporary impairment guidance. FSP FAS 115-1 is effective for other-than-temporary analyses conducted in periods beginning after December 15, 2005. This pronouncement as it relates to the Company s trusts did not have current impact on net earnings.

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) released Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections-a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3, (FAS 154). FAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods financial statements for any changes in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. This statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The impact of FAS 154 will depend on the nature and extent of any voluntary accounting changes or error corrections after the effective date. At June 30, 2006 this statement did not have an impact on the Company s condensed consolidated financial statements.

At its March 28, 2006 meeting, the FASB approved the issuance of a draft abstract EITF Issue No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation), which addresses the income statement disclosure on taxes assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer, and may include, but are not limited to, sales, use, value added, and some excise taxes. The presentation of taxes on either a gross (included in revenues and costs) or a net (excluded from revenues) basis is an accounting policy decision that should be disclosed pursuant to Opinion 22. In addition, for any such taxes that are reported on a gross basis, a company should disclose the amounts of those taxes in interim and annual financial statements for each period for which an income statement is presented if those amounts are significant and can be done on an aggregate basis. When issued, EITF Issue No. 06-3 would be effective for financial reports for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company currently accounts for taxes on a net basis; therefore EITF 06-3 should not have any significant impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation requires that the Company recognize in its financial statements, the impact of a tax position, if that position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of the beginning of the Company s 2007 fiscal year, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on its financial statements.

19

### **Results of Operations**

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the periods presented:

	Three mo	nths ended	Six months ended		
	June 30, 2005 2006		2005	e 30, 2006 usands)	
Statement of Operations Data:					
Revenues:					
Cemetery	\$ 24,699	\$ 27,163	\$ 45,044	\$ 52,355	
Funeral home	529	1,129	1,150	2,589	
Total	25,228	28,292	46,194	54,944	
Costs and Expenses: Cost of goods sold:					
Land and crypts	1,625	1,416	2,588	2,863	
Perpetual care	792	847	1,407	1,583	
Merchandise	1,171	1,416	2,450	2,689	
Cemetery expense	5,611	6,366	10,328	12,002	
Selling expense	5,270	5,772	9,461	11,419	
General and administrative expense	2,544	3,086	4,922	6,150	
Corporate overhead	3,517	4,426	6,592	8,234	
Depreciation and amortization	1,023	925	1,868	1,746	
Funeral home expense	436	961	870	2,054	
Interest expense	1,588	1,782	3,169	3,515	
Income taxes (benefit)	299	215	519	668	
Net income (loss)	\$ 1,352	\$ 1,080	\$ 2,020	\$ 2,021	

The following table presents supplemental operating data as of the periods presented:

	Three mo	nths ended	Six months ended	
	Jun 2005	e 30, 2006	Jun 2005	e 30, 2006
Operating Data:	2005	2000	2005	2000
Interments Performed	5,403	6,216	11,381	12,588
Cemetery revenues per interment performed	\$ 4,571	\$ 4,370	\$ 3,958	\$ 4,159
Interment rights sold (1):				
Lots	4,036	4,341	6,243	6,476
Mausoleum crypts (including pre-construction)	657	618	1,078	1,184
Niches	110	113	214	229
Total interment rights sold	4,803	5,072	7,535	7,889
Number of contracts written	12,638	14,078	23,420	27,309
Aggregate contract amount, in thousands (excluding interest)	\$ 25,853	\$ 30,136	\$ 47,282	\$ 58,264
Average amount per contract (excluding interest)	\$ 2,046	\$ 2,141	\$ 2,019	\$ 2,134

Number of pre-need contracts written	5,937	6,555	10,432	12,797
Aggregate pre-need contract amount, in thousands (excluding interest)	\$ 17,269	\$ 19,450	\$ 30,606	\$ 37,704
Average amount per pre-need contract (excluding interest)	\$ 2,909	\$ 2,967	\$ 2,934	\$ 2,946
Number of at-need contracts written	6,701	7,523	12,988	14,512
Aggregate at-need contract amount, in thousands	\$ 8,584	\$ 10,686	\$ 16,676	\$ 20,560
Average amount per at-need contract	\$ 1,281	\$ 1,420	\$ 1,284	\$ 1,417

<sup>(1)</sup> Net of cancellations. Counts the sale of a double-depth burial lot as the sale of two interment rights.

Cemetery Revenues. Cemetery revenues were \$27.2 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$2.9 million, or 24.1%, as compared to \$24.7 million in second quarter of 2005. Cemetery revenues from pre-need sales, including interest income from pre-need installment contracts and investment income from trusts, were \$17.2 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of

Three Months Ended June 30, 2006 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2005

#### **Table of Contents**

\$0.8 million, or 4.9%, as compared to \$16.4 million in the second quarter of 2005. The increase primarily resulted from increased marker and marker base deliveries (\$0.5 million), additional vault deliveries and installation (\$0.8 million), and increased document and installation fees (\$0.5 million), partially offset by a decrease in casket deliveries of \$1.1 million. Total revenues from merchandise and perpetual care trusts for the second quarter of 2006 were \$3.8 million an increase of \$0.2 million or 5.6%, as compared to \$3.6 million during same period in 2005.

Cemetery revenues from at-need sales in the second quarter of 2006 were \$9.4 million, an increase of \$1.6 million, or 20.5%, as compared to \$7.8 million in the second quarter of 2005. The increase in cemetery revenues from at-need sales was primarily attributable to higher sales of monument bases and markers of \$0.5 million, higher sales of openings and closings of \$0.8 million and higher sales of at-need lot spaces of \$0.3 million.

Other cemetery revenues were \$0.5 million in the second quarter of 2006, essentially unchanged from the second quarter of 2005.

The second quarter increases in all revenue and expense components are primarily related to our November 2005 acquisition.

Costs of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold was \$3.7 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.1 million, or 2.8%, as compared to \$3.6 million in the second quarter of 2005. As a percentage of cemetery revenues, cost of goods sold was 13.6% in the second quarter of 2006 a decrease of 0.9% from 14.5% in the second quarter of 2005.

Selling Expense. Total selling expense was \$5.8 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.5 million, or 9.4%, as compared to \$5.3 million in the second quarter of 2005. Sales commissions and other compensation expenses contributed \$4.4 million to total selling expense during the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.3 million, or 7.3%, compared to \$4.1 million in the second quarter of 2005. As a percentage of pre-need sales, sales commissions and other compensation expenses were 34.8% in the second quarter of 2006, essentially unchanged from the second of 2005.

Cemetery Expense. Cemetery expense was \$6.4 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.8 million, or 14.3%, as compared to \$5.6 million in the second quarter of 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in cemetery labor costs of \$0.4 million and an increase in cemetery maintenance and supplies of \$0.2 million.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was \$3.1 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.6 million, or 24.0%, as compared to \$2.5 million in the second quarter of 2005. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in office salaries of \$0.2 million and an increase in insurance costs of \$0.2 million.

Funeral Home Revenues and Expense. Funeral home revenues were \$1.1 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.6 million, or 120.0%, as compared to \$0.5 million in the second quarter of 2005. The primary reason for the increase was an increase in the number of services performed, 392 in the second quarter of 2006 compared to 153 in the second quarter of 2005. Funeral home expenses were \$1.0 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.6 million, or 150.0%, as compared to \$0.4 million in the second quarter of 2005. The majority of all increases in funeral home revenue and expenses are attributable to our November, 2005 acquisition of 6 funeral homes.

*Corporate Overhead.* Corporate overhead was \$4.4 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.9 million, or 25.7%, as compared to \$3.5 million in the second quarter of 2005. The increase is primarily related to \$0.9 million in increased professional fees related to the restatement of our 2005 quarterly reports and material weakness disclosed in our 2005 10-k.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization was \$0.9 million in the second quarter of 2006, essentially unchanged from the second quarter of 2005.

*Interest Expense*. Interest expense was \$1.8 million in the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.2 million, or 12.5%, as compared to \$1.6 million in the second quarter of 2005. This increase is attributable to \$10.2 million increase in debt outstanding at June 30, 2006.

*Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes.* Provision for income taxes was \$0.2 million in the second quarter of 2006 as compared to a provision for income taxes of \$0.3 million during the second quarter of 2005. The change in provision for income taxes was primarily due to the decrease in operating profit attained during the second quarter of 2006.

#### **Table of Contents**

*Net Income(Loss)*. Net income was \$1.1 million during the second quarter of 2006, an increase of \$0.2 million, as compared to net income of \$1.4 million during the second quarter of 2005. The increase in net income was primarily attributable to the \$0.9 million we spent on professional fees for the restatement of our 2005 quarterly financial statements, partially offset by the contribution of the new locations we added in our November, 2005 acquisition.

Deferred Cemetery Revenue, net. Deferred cemetery revenues, net, increased \$1.2 million, or 0.7% in the second quarter of 2006, from \$173.0 million as of March 31, 2006 to \$174.2 million at June 30, 2006. In the comparable period in 2005, deferred cemetery revenues, net, increased \$2.4 million, or 1.5%, from \$156.4 million as of March 31, 2005 to \$156.8 million as of June 30, 2005. The net increase in the quarter ended June 30, 2006 was primarily attributable to an increase in sales of pre-need cemetery products and services that were not delivered or performed in the quarter ended June 30, 2006. In the three months ended June 30, 2006, we added \$11.6 million in pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and services, net of deferred costs and cancellations, to our pre-need sales backlog which was offset by revenues recognized, net of costs, of \$9.7 million, including accumulated merchandise trust earnings related to the delivery and performance of pre-need cemetery merchandise and services. In the three months ended June 30, 2005, we added \$11.4 million in pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and services, net of deferred costs and cancellations, to our pre-need sales backlog which was offset by revenues recognized, net of costs, of \$8.2 million, including accumulated merchandise trust earnings related to the delivery and performance of pre-need cemetery merchandise and services.

### Six Months Ended June 30, 2006 versus Six Months Ended June 30, 2005

Cemetery Revenues. Cemetery revenues were \$52.4 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$7.4 million, or 16.4%, as compared to \$45.0 million in the first half of 2005. Of that increase, \$3.9 million or 52.7%, is related to our November 2005 acquisition of 22 cemeteries from Service Corporation International. Cemetery revenues from pre-need sales, including interest income from pre-need installment contracts and investment income from trusts, were \$32.4 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$3.9 million, or 13.6%, as compared to \$28.7 million in the first half of 2005. The increase primarily resulted from additional mausoleum deliveries (\$1.1 million), additional lot sales (\$1.0 million), additional vault deliveries (\$2.6 million), additional marker and marker base sales (\$0.7 million), and additional document fees (\$0.4 million). These increases were partially offset by a decrease in the delivery of caskets (\$2.2 million). An additional contribution to the increase in cemetery revenues from pre-need sales was higher accumulated earnings from merchandise trusts allocated to the pre-need products delivered during the first half of 2006. Total revenues from merchandise and perpetual care trusts for the first half of 2006 were higher by \$0.2 million than the same period in 2005.

Cemetery revenues from at-need sales in the first half of 2006 were \$18.6 million, an increase of \$2.9 million, or 18.5%, as compared to \$15.7 million in the first half of 2005. The increase in cemetery revenues from at-need sales was primarily attributable to higher sales of monument bases and markers of \$1.0 million and higher sales of at-need interment rights of \$1.7 million.

Other cemetery revenues were \$1.3 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$0.6 million, or 85.7%, from \$0.7 million in the first half of 2005. The increase in other cemetery revenues was primarily attributable to an increase in sales of undeveloped land for net proceeds of \$0.5 million.

Costs of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold was \$7.1 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$0.7 million, or 10.9%, as compared to \$6.4 million in the first half of 2005. Of that increase, \$0.6 million or 85.7%, is related to our November 2005 acquisition of 22 cemeteries from Service Corporation International. As a percentage of cemetery revenues, cost of goods sold decreased to 13.5% in the first half of 2006 from 14.2% in the first half of 2005. The decrease in cost of goods sold as a percentage of cemetery revenue was attributable to the increase in mausoleum and interment sales in the first half of 2006 that produce an increased gross margin.

Selling Expense. Total selling expense was \$11.4 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$1.9 million or 20.0%, as compared to \$9.5 million in the first half of 2005. Of that increase, \$1.3 million, or 68.4%, is related to our November 2005 acquisition of 22 cemeteries from Service Corporation International. Sales commissions and other compensation expenses contributed \$8.7 million to total selling expense during the first half of 2006, an increase of \$1.3 million, or 17.6%, compared to \$7.4 million in the first half of 2005. As a percentage of pre-need sales, sales commissions and other compensation expenses were 36.9% in the first half of 2006, as compared to 38.9% in the first half of 2005.

22

#### **Table of Contents**

*Cemetery Expense.* Cemetery expense was \$12.0 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$1.7 million, or 16.5%, as compared to \$10.3 million in the first half of 2005. Of that increase, \$1.5 million, or 88.2%, is related to our November 2005 acquisition of 22 cemeteries from Service Corporation International.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was \$6.2 million in the first half of 2006 an increase of \$1.3 million or 26.5%, as compared to \$4.9 million in the first half of 2005. Of that increase, \$1.2 million, or 100.0%, is related to our November 2005 acquisition of 22 cemeteries from Service Corporation International.

Funeral Home Revenues and Expense. Funeral home revenues were \$2.6 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$1.4 million, or 116.7%, as compared to \$1.2 million in the first half of 2005. The primary reason for the increase was an increase in the number of services performed, 734 in the first half of 2006 compared to 342 in the first half of 2005. Funeral home expenses were \$2.1 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$1.2 million or 133.3%, as compared to \$0.9 million in the first half of 2005. The majority of all increases in funeral home revenue and expenses are attributable to our November, 2005 acquisition of 6 funeral homes.

*Corporate Overhead.* Corporate overhead was \$8.2 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$1.6 million, or 24.2%, as compared to \$6.6 million in the first half of 2005. The increase is primarily related to \$0.9 million in increased professional fees related to the restatement of our 2005 quarterly reports and an increase of \$0.6 million in corporate salaries.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization was \$1.8 million in the first half of 2006, a decrease of \$0.1 million, or 5.3%, as compared to \$1.9 million in the first half of 2005.

*Interest Expense.* Interest expense was \$3.5 million in the first half of 2006, an increase of \$0.3 million, or 9.4%, as compared to \$3.2 million in the first half of 2005. This increase is attributable to an increase in outstanding borrowings on our acquisition line of credit of \$5.3 million and an increase in borrowings on our revolving line of credit of \$4.9 million.

*Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes.* Provision for income taxes was \$0.7 million in the first half of 2006 as compared to a provision for income taxes of \$0.5 million during the first half of 2005. The change in provision for income taxes was primarily due to the increase in operating profit attained during the first half of 2006.

*Net Income(Loss)*. Net income was \$2.1 million during the first half of 2006, an increase of \$0.1 million, or 6.0%, as compared to net income of \$2.0 million during the first half of 2005. The increase in net income was primarily attributable to the contribution of the new locations we added in our November, 2005 acquisition, partially offset by to the \$0.9 million we spent on professional fees for the restatement of our 2005 quarterly financial statements

Deferred Cemetery Revenue. Deferred cemetery revenues, net, increased \$6.4 million, or 3.8% in the first half of 2006, from \$167.8 million as of December 31, 2005 to \$174.2 million as of June 30, 2006. In the comparable period in 2005, deferred cemetery revenues, net, increased \$2.8 million, or 1.8% in the first half of 2005, from \$156.0 million as of December 31, 2004 to \$158.8 million as of June 30, 2005. The net increase in the first half of 2006 was primarily attributable to an increase in sales of pre-need cemetery products and services that were not delivered or performed in the first half of 2006. We added \$26.2 million in pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise and services, net of deferred costs and cancellations, to our pre-need sales backlog during the first half of 2006 as compared to \$21.7 million added during the first half of 2005. These increases were offset by revenues recognized, net of costs, of \$18.6 million, including accumulated merchandise trust earnings, during the first half of 2006 related to the delivery and performance of pre-need cemetery merchandise and services as compared to \$16.3 million of revenues recognized in the first half of 2005.

#### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

Overview. Our primary short-term operating liquidity needs are to fund general working capital requirements and maintenance capital expenditures. Our long-term operating liquidity needs are primarily associated with acquisitions of cemetery properties and the construction of mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts on the grounds of our cemetery properties. We may also construct funeral homes on the grounds of cemetery properties that we

Table of Contents 36

23

#### **Table of Contents**

acquire in the future. Our primary source of funds for our short-term liquidity needs will be cash flow from operations and income from perpetual care trusts. Our primary source of funds for long-term liquidity needs will be long-term bank borrowings and the issuance of additional common units and other partnership securities, including debt, subject to the restrictions in our credit facility and under our senior secured notes.

We believe that cash generated from operations and our borrowing capacity under our credit facility, which is discussed below, will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures and scheduled debt payments for the foreseeable future. In 2006, we anticipate that we will spend \$2.8 million for the construction of mausoleums. Additionally, we anticipate ongoing annual capital expenditure requirements of between approximately \$1.7 million and \$2.9 million for the foreseeable future, of which between \$1.1 million and \$2.1 million is for maintenance of our existing cemeteries and between \$0.6 million and 0.8 million is for mausoleum and lawn crypt construction and other expansion after 2006, excluding acquisitions. The estimate for cemetery maintenance capital expenditures would increase if we were to acquire additional cemetery properties.

One of our goals is to grow through the acquisition of high-quality cemetery properties. On November 1, 2005, StoneMor acquired 22 cemeteries and six funeral homes from Service Corporation International (NYSE: SCI) for \$12.9 million. StoneMor paid \$7.0 million in cash and 280,952 StoneMor Limited Partner units, representing the additional \$5.9 million. In addition, StoneMor assumed the merchandise and service liabilities associated with certain pre-arranged bonded contracts related to the properties. We anticipate financing future acquisitions with the proceeds of borrowings under our credit facility or the issuance of additional common units and other partnership securities, including debt, to the extent permitted under our credit facility, the senior secured notes and our partnership agreement.

Our ability to satisfy our debt service obligations, fund planned capital expenditures, make acquisitions and pay distributions to partners will depend upon our future operating performance. Our operating performance is primarily dependent on the sales volume of customer contracts, the cost of purchasing cemetery merchandise that we have sold, the amount of funds withdrawn from merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts and the timing and amount of collections on our pre-need installment contracts.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities. Cash flows provided by operating activities were \$5.5 million in the first half of 2006 compared to cash flows provided by operating activities of \$7.2 million during the first half of 2005. Cash flows provided by operating activities in the first half of 2005 primarily due to cash distributed from and used to fund our merchandise trust funds. During the first half of the year, one of our cemetery merchandise suppliers was retooling its production facility and did not make shipments until June. This decreased the amount of cash flow we received as the result of servicing some of our pre-need products by approximately \$2.4 million. Additionally, we used approximately \$1.6 million in cash to reduce our outstanding accounts payable and accrued liabilities and paid approximately \$0.6 million in expenses related to the restatement of our 2005 quarterly financial statements This decrease in cash flows from operating activities was partially offset by increased net income earned during the first half of 2006 and increases in merchandise liability related to the preceding factors.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was \$2.8 million in the first six months of 2006, a decrease of \$1.0 million, as compared to cash used in investing activities of \$3.8 million in the first six months of 2005. This decrease was primarily attributable to \$2.1 million provided from the divestiture of one of our funeral home locations, partially offset by increased capital expenditures related to mausoleum construction of \$1.0 million.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was \$4.8 million in the first six months of 2006 as compared to cash used in financing activities of \$7.0 million in the first six months of 2005. The cash flow used in financing activities in 2006 was primarily attributable to the February and May unit holder distributions of \$8.5 million partially offset by increased borrowings from our revolving credit facility of \$3.7 million. The cash flow used in financing activities in 2005 was primarily attributable to the February and May unit holder distributions of \$8.4 million partially offset by increased borrowings from our revolving credit facility of \$1.6 million.

Credit Facility. Concurrent with the closing of our initial public offering in September 2004, StoneMor Operating LLC, which is our operating company, and its present and future subsidiaries, all as borrowers, entered into a new \$35.0 million credit agreement. The credit agreement consists of a \$12.5 million revolving credit facility and a \$22.5 million acquisition line of credit. Borrowings under our revolving credit facility are due and payable three years after the date of the credit agreement, and borrowings under the acquisition facility are due and payable four years after the date of the credit agreement. We may prepay all loans under the credit agreement at any time without penalty, although our acquisition line may be subject to hedging arrangements with attendant termination fees. Any amounts repaid on the acquisition line cannot be reborrowed. We are required to reduce borrowings under

#### **Table of Contents**

our revolving credit facility that are designated for the purpose of funding a regularly scheduled quarterly distribution to the unitholders to not more than \$5.0 million for a period of at least 30 consecutive days at least once during each consecutive 12-month period prior to the maturity of the revolving credit facility. As of June 30, 2006, we had outstanding borrowings of \$4.9 million under our revolving credit line. As of June 30, 2006, we had \$5.25 million outstanding under our acquisition line of credit that we borrowed for the acquisition of 22 cemeteries and 6 funeral homes from Service Corporation International in November 2005.

The revolving credit facility is available for ongoing working capital needs, capital expenditures, distributions and general partnership purposes. Amounts borrowed and repaid under the revolving credit facility may be borrowed in an amount that does not exceed 80% of our eligible accounts receivable. Eligible accounts receivable are defined as gross accounts receivable represented by approved installment agreements for pre-need sales net of collection reserves, imputed interest earnings, funds due to perpetual care and merchandise trusts, unpaid sales commissions and other reserves as may be required by the agent for the lenders.

The acquisition facility is available to finance acquisitions of companies in our line of business that have been approved by our board of directors. We are required to obtain the approval of the requisite lenders for any acquisition exceeding \$2.5 million and for any series of acquisitions exceeding \$20.0 million in any consecutive 12 months, but this consent may not be unreasonably withheld. Interest under the acquisition facility is payable quarterly for the first 12 months after each borrowing. We will repay the then outstanding borrowings in equal quarterly installments based on a six-year amortization schedule, with the first quarterly principal payment beginning 15 months after each borrowing and subsequent quarterly principal payments continuing on each 3 month interval from the previous quarterly principal payment and with a balloon payment for any unpaid amount due at the maturity of the acquisition facility.

Borrowings under the credit agreement rank pari passu with all of our other senior secured debt, including the senior secured notes issued concurrently with our initial public offering, subject to the description of the collateral securing the credit agreement described below. Borrowings under the credit agreement are guaranteed by the partnership and our general partner.

Our obligations under the revolving facility are secured by a first priority lien and security interest in specified receivable rights, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, of the borrowers and the guarantors and by a second priority lien and security interest in substantially all assets other than those receivable rights of the borrowers and the guarantors, excluding trust accounts and certain proceeds required by law to be placed into such trust accounts and funds held in trust accounts, our general partner s general partner interest in the partnership and our general partner s incentive distribution rights under our partnership agreement. These assets will secure the acquisition facility and our senior secured notes, as described below and under Senior Secured Notes. The specified receivable rights include all accounts and other rights to payment arising under customer contracts or agreements (other than amounts required to be deposited into merchandise and perpetual care trusts) or management agreements, and all inventory, general intangibles and other rights reasonably related to the collection and performance of these accounts and rights to payment.

Our obligations under the acquisition facility are secured by a first priority lien and security interest in substantially all assets, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, other than specified receivable rights of the borrowers and the guarantors, excluding trust accounts and certain proceeds required by law to be placed into such trust accounts and funds held in trust accounts, our general partner s general partner interest in the partnership and our general partner s incentive distribution rights under our partnership agreement, and a secondary priority lien and security interest in those specified receivable rights of the borrowers and the guarantors. The senior secured notes will share pari passu in the collateral securing the acquisition facility.

Depending on the type of loan, indebtedness outstanding under the revolving credit facility bears interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate or the Eurodollar Rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.00% to 1.00% and 2.50% to 3.50% per annum, respectively, depending on our ratio of total debt to consolidated cash flow. The Base Rate is the higher of the federal funds rate plus .050% or the prime rate announced by Fleet National Bank, a Bank of America company. The Eurodollar Rate is to be determined by the administrative agent according to the new credit agreement. The interest will be determined and payable quarterly. We incur commitment fees ranging from 0.375% to 0.500% per annum, depending on our ratio of total debt to consolidated cash flow, determined and payable quarterly based on the unused amount of the credit facilities.

We are required to use the net cash proceeds from the sale of any assets, the incurrence of any indebtedness or the issuance of any equity interests in the partnership or any subsidiary of the partnership to repay amounts outstanding under the credit agreement and our senior secured notes, pro rata based on the percentage share of the aggregate amounts outstanding, provided that we may use the proceeds from the sale of any assets to purchase capital assets or fund permitted acquisitions within 180 days of such sale and we may use the proceeds from any

## **Table of Contents**

issuance of equity interests by the partnership to fund permitted acquisitions to the extent such equity interests are issued in connection with a permitted acquisition that is completed within 180 days before or after the receipt of such proceeds.

The credit agreement prevents us from declaring dividends or distributions if any event of default, as defined in the new credit agreement, occurs or would result from such declaration. The following will be an event of default under the credit agreement:

failure to pay any principal, interest, fees, expenses or other amounts when due;

failure of any of our representations and warranties to be materially correct;

failure to observe any covenant included in the credit agreement beyond specified cure periods in specified cases;

the occurrence of a default under other indebtedness of the partnership, our general partner, our operating company or any of our other subsidiaries:

the occurrence of specified bankruptcy or insolvency events involving the partnership, our operating company, our general partner or our other subsidiaries;

a change of control; or

the entry of judgments against the partnership, our general partner, our operating company or any of our other subsidiaries in excess of certain allowances.

Change of control is defined in the credit agreement as the occurrence of any of the following events:

any two of our chairman, chief executive officer or chief financial officer on the date of the credit agreement cease to hold such positions unless approved by the lenders under the credit agreement;

any person or group that did not hold any equity interests in the general partner or the partnership on the date of the credit agreement acquires 20% or more of the equity interests in the partnership or the general partner;

the general partner ceases to be our sole general partner;

the partnership ceases to own 100% of the operating company; or

the operating company ceases to own 100% of the other borrowers.

The credit agreement contains financial covenants requiring us to maintain, on a rolling four-quarter basis:

a ratio of consolidated cash flow, as defined in the credit agreement, to consolidated interest expense of not less than 3.5 to 1.0 for the four most recent quarters;

a ratio of total funded debt on the last day of each quarter to consolidated cash flow of not more than 3.5 to 1.0 for the four most recent quarters (except as described below); and

consolidated cash flow of at least \$21.0 million. Our minimum consolidated cash flow will be increased by 80% of any consolidated cash flow acquired in an acquisition.

The credit agreement was amended in November 2004 to amend the leverage ratio from 3.5 to 1 to 3.75 to 1 until September 30, 2005 at which time it reverted back to 3.5 to 1. In March 2006, we received a waiver which extended the time allowed to meet the requirement that we deliver 2005 annual audited financial statements within 95 days of 2005 fiscal year end to 155 days from 2005 fiscal year end. We delivered the 2005 audited financial statements on May 15, 2006, within the extended deadline. As of June 30, 2006, the Company was in compliance with all debt covenants.

For purposes of determining our compliance with the covenants described above, total funded debt includes all indebtedness for borrowed money (except that if we reduce borrowings under our revolving credit facility that are designated for the purpose of funding a regularly scheduled quarterly distribution to unitholders to not more than \$5.0 million for a period of at least 30 consecutive days at least once during each consecutive 12-month period prior to the maturity of the revolving credit facility, then the amount of outstanding revolving loans to be included in total funded debt will be an amount not to exceed \$5.0 million), purchase money indebtedness, obligations under letters of credit, capitalized leases, if any, and the deferred purchase price of any property or services. Consolidated cash flow is based on our adjusted EBITDA and is defined in the credit agreement as net income plus, among other things:

nterest expense;
axes;
depreciation and amortization;
non-cash cost of land and crypts;
extraordinary losses;
other non-cash items;
ncrease (decrease) in deferred cemetery revenues, net (excluding deferred margin);

Table of Contents 40

26

#### **Table of Contents**

increase (decrease) in accounts receivable;		
increase (decrease) in merchandise liability; and		
increase (decrease) in merchandise trust (excluding any change in trust income receivable).  Consolidated cash flow is adjusted to exclude, among other things, extraordinary gains, gains from sales of assets outside the ordinary course of business and non-cash items.		
The credit agreement limits the ability of the partnership, our general partner, our operating company and any of our other subsidiaries, among other things, to:		
enter into a new line of business;		
enter into any agreement of merger or acquisition;		
sell, transfer, assign or convey assets;		
grant certain liens;		
incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;		
make certain loans, advances and investments;		
declare and pay dividends and distributions;		
enter into certain leases;		
enter into transactions with affiliates; and		
make voluntary payments or modifications of indebtedness.  Senior Secured Notes. Concurrent with the closing of our initial public offering, StoneMor Operating LLC and its existing subsidiaries issued and sold \$80.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes. The net proceeds of the senior secured notes were used to repay a portion of our then existing indebtedness.		

The senior secured notes rank pari passu with all of our other senior secured debt, including the revolving credit facility and the acquisition facility, subject to the description of the collateral securing the senior secured notes described below. The senior secured notes are guaranteed by the partnership, our general partner and any future subsidiaries of our operating company. Obligations under the senior secured notes are secured by a first priority lien and security interest covering substantially all of the assets of the issuers, whether then owned or thereafter acquired, other than specified receivable rights, excluding trust accounts and certain proceeds required by law to be placed in such trust accounts and funds held

in trust accounts, our general partner s general partner interest in the Partnership and our general partner s incentive distribution rights under our partnership agreement, and a second priority lien and security interest covering those specified receivable rights, each as described above, of the issuers and the guarantors, whether then owned or thereafter acquired.

The senior secured notes mature on September 20, 2009 and bear interest at a rate of 7.66% per annum. Interest on the senior secured notes is payable quarterly, commencing on December 20, 2004. There will be no principal amortization prior to the final maturity of the senior secured notes.

The senior secured notes are redeemable, at our option, at any time in whole or in part at a make-whole premium. The make-whole premium is calculated on the basis of a discount rate equal to the yield on the U.S. treasury notes having a constant maturity comparable to the remaining term of the senior secured notes, plus 100 basis points. The senior secured notes are not subject to any sinking fund provisions.

The senior secured notes limit the ability of the partnership, our general partner, our operating company and any of our other subsidiaries, among other things, to:

enter into a new line of business;
enter into any agreement of merger or acquisition;
sell, transfer, assign or convey assets;
grant certain liens;
incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;
make certain loans, advances and investments;
declare and pay dividends and distributions;
enter into certain leases;
enter into transactions with affiliates; and
make voluntary payments or modifications of indebtedness.

Table of Contents 42

27

## **Table of Contents**

The note purchase agreement also contains financial covenants requiring us to maintain, on a rolling four-quarter basis:

a ratio of consolidated cash flow, as defined in the note purchase agreement, to consolidated interest expense of not less than 3.5 to 1.0 for the four most recent quarters;

a ratio of total funded debt on the last day of each quarter to consolidated cash flow of not more than 3.5 to 1.0 for the four most recent quarters (except as described below); and

consolidated cash flow of at least \$21.0 million. Our minimum consolidated cash flow will be increased by 80% of any consolidated cash flow acquired in an acquisition.

The note purchase agreement was amended in November 2004 to amend the leverage ratio from 3.5 to 3.75 to 1 until September 30, 2005 at which time it reverted back to 3.5 to 1.

For purposes of determining our compliance with the covenants described above, total funded debt and consolidated cash flow are defined in the note purchase agreement in the same manner as they are defined in our new credit agreement.

Each of the following is an event of default under the note purchase agreement:

failure to pay any principal, interest, fees, expenses or other amounts when due;

failure of any of our representations and warranties to be materially correct;

failure to observe any covenant included in the note purchase agreement beyond specified cure periods in specified cases;

the occurrence of a default under other indebtedness of the partnership, our general partner, our operating company or any of our other subsidiaries:

the occurrence of specified bankruptcy or insolvency events involving the partnership, our operating company, our general partner or our other subsidiaries;

a change of control; or

the entry of judgments against the partnership, our general partner, our operating company or any of our other subsidiaries in excess of certain allowances.

Change of control is defined as the occurrence of any of the following events:

any two of our chairman, chief executive officer or chief financial officer on the closing date of the senior secured notes offering cease to hold such positions unless approved by the requisite noteholders;

any person or group that did not hold any equity interests in the general partner or the partnership on the closing date of the senior secured notes offering acquires 20% or more of the equity interests in the partnership or the general partner;

the general partner ceases to be our sole general partner;

the partnership ceases to own 100% of the operating company; or

the operating company ceases to own 100% of the other borrowers.

The initial offering of the senior secured notes was not registered under the Securities Act, and the senior secured notes may not be resold absent registration or an available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The holders of the senior secured notes do not have registration rights. The senior secured notes are not listed or quoted on any national securities exchange or association.

Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement. In connection with the closing of the credit facility and the private placement of the senior secured notes, our general partner, the partnership, our operating company, our other subsidiaries, the lenders under the new credit facility, the holders of the senior secured notes and Fleet National Bank, as collateral agent, entered into an intercreditor and collateral agency agreement setting forth the rights and obligations of the parties to the agreement as they relate to the collateral securing the new credit facility and the senior secured notes.

#### Capital Expenditures

The following table summarizes total maintenance capital expenditures and expansion capital expenditures, including for the construction of mausoleums and for acquisitions, for the periods presented (in thousands):

#### Six Months Ended

	Jur	June 30,	
	2005	2006	
Maintenance capital expenditures	\$ 1,628	\$ 1,527	
Expansion capital expenditures	2,158	3,352	
Total capital expenditures	\$ 3,786	\$ 1,800	

Pursuant to our partnership agreement, in connection with determining operating cash flows available for distribution, costs to construct mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts may be considered to be a combination of maintenance capital expenditures and expansion capital expenditures depending on the purposes for construction. Our general partner, with the concurrence of its conflicts committee, has the discretion to determine how to allocate a capital expenditure for the construction of a mausoleum crypt or a lawn crypt between maintenance capital expenditures and expansion capital expenditures. In addition, maintenance capital expenditures for the construction of a mausoleum crypt or a lawn crypt are not subtracted from operating surplus in the quarter incurred but rather are subtracted from operating surplus ratably during the estimated number of years it will take to sell all of the available spaces in the mausoleum or lawn crypt. Estimated life is determined by our general partner, with the concurrence of its conflicts committee.

*Seasonality*. The death care business is relatively stable and predictable. Although we experience seasonal increases in deaths due to extreme weather conditions and winter flu, these increases have not historically had any significant impact on our results of operations. In addition, we perform fewer initial openings and closings in the winter when the ground is frozen.

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

The information presented below should be read in conjunction with the notes to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included under. Item 1. Financial Statements.

The market risk inherent in our market risk sensitive instruments and positions is the potential change arising from increases or decreases in interest rates and the prices of marketable equity securities, as discussed below. Our exposure to market risk includes forward-looking statements and represents an estimate of possible changes in fair value or future earnings that would occur assuming hypothetical future movements in interest rates or equity markets. Our views on market risk are not necessarily indicative of actual results that may occur and do not represent the maximum possible gains and losses that may occur, since actual gains and losses will differ from those estimated, based on actual fluctuations in interest rates, equity markets and the timing of transactions. We classify our market risk sensitive instruments and positions as other than trading.

Interest-bearing Investments. Our fixed-income securities subject to market risk consist primarily of investments in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts. As of June 30, 2006, fixed-income securities represented 44.0% of the funds held in merchandise trusts and 58.7% of the funds held in perpetual care trusts. The aggregate quoted market value of these fixed-income securities was \$50.2 million and \$82.7 million in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectively, as of June 30, 2006. Each 1% change in interest rates on these fixed-income securities would result in changes of approximately \$0.5 million and \$0.8 million in the fair market values of the securities held in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectively, based on discounted expected future cash flows. If these securities are held to maturity, no change in fair market value will be realized.

Our money market and other short-term investments subject to market risk consist primarily of investments held in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts. As of June 30, 2006, these investments accounted for approximately 9.9% and 11.6% of the funds held in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectively. The fair market value of these investments was \$11.3 million and \$16.3 million in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectively, as of June 30, 2006. Each 10% change in average interest rates applicable to these investments would result in changes of approximately \$1.1 million and \$1.6 million, respectively; in the aggregate fair market values of the perpetual care investments and the merchandise trust investments.

Marketable Equity Securities. Our marketable equity securities subject to market risk consist primarily of investments held in merchandise trusts and in the case of perpetual care trusts, investments in real estate investment trusts, or REITs. As of June 30, 2006, marketable equity securities represented 46.1% of funds held in merchandise trusts and 29.7% of funds held in perpetual care trusts. The aggregate fair market value of these marketable equity securities was \$52.6 million and \$41.9 million in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectively, as of June 30, 2006, based on final quoted sales prices. Each 10% change in the average market prices of the equity securities would result in a change of approximately \$5.3 million and \$4.2 million in the fair market value of securities held in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts, respectively.

*Investment Strategies and Objectives*. Our internal investment strategies and objectives for funds held in merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts are specified in an Investment Policy Statement which requires us to do the following:

State in a written document our expectations, objectives, tolerances for risk and guidelines in the investment of our assets;

29

Set forth a disciplined and consistent structure for managing all trust assets. This structure is based on a long-term asset allocation strategy, which is diversified across asset classes, investment styles and strategies. We believe this structure is likely to meet our stated objectives within our tolerances for risk and variability. This structure also includes ranges around the target allocations allowing for adjustments when appropriate to reduce risk or enhance returns. It further includes guidelines for the selection of investment managers and vehicles through which to implement the investment strategy;

Provide specific guidelines for each investment manager. These guidelines control the level of overall risk and liquidity assumed in their portfolio;

Appoint third-party investment advisors to oversee the specific investment managers and advise our Trust and Compliance Committee; and

Establish criteria to monitor, evaluate and compare the performance results achieved by the overall trust portfolios and by our investment managers. This allows us to compare the performance results of the trusts to our objectives and other benchmarks, including our peers, on a regular basis.

Our investment guidelines are based on relatively long investment horizons, which vary with the type of trust. Because of this, interim fluctuations should be viewed with appropriate perspective. The strategic asset allocation of the trust portfolios is also based on this longer-term perspective. However, in developing our investment policy, we have taken into account the potential negative impact on our operations and financial performance of significant short-term declines in market value.

We recognize the challenges we face in achieving our investment objectives in light of the uncertainties and complexities of contemporary investment markets. Furthermore, we recognize that, in order to achieve the stated long-term objectives, we may have short-term declines in market value. Given the need to maintain consistent values in the portfolio, we have attempted to develop a strategy which is likely to maximize returns and earnings without experiencing overall declines in value in excess of 3% over any 12-month period.

In order to consistently achieve the stated return objectives within our tolerance for risk, we use a strategy of allocating appropriate portions of our portfolio to a variety of asset classes with attractive risk and return characteristics, and low to moderate correlations of returns. See the notes to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for a breakdown of the assets held in our merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts by asset class.

*Debt Instruments.* Our credit facility bears interest at a floating rate, based on LIBOR, which is adjusted quarterly. This credit facility will subject us to increases in interest expense resulting from movements in interest rates. As of June 30, 2006, we had outstanding borrowings of \$4.9 million under our revolving credit line. On November 1, 2005, we borrowed \$5.25 million from our acquisition line of credit to facilitate the consummation of the acquisition of 22 cemeteries and 6 funeral homes from Service Corporation International.

#### **Item 4. Controls and Procedures**

## **Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's Disclosure Committee and management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based upon, and as of the date of this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information the Company is required to disclose in its reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported accurately including, without limitation, ensuring that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

#### **Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting**

There have been no changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company s last fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.

#### Part II Other Information

#### **Item 1. Legal Proceedings**

We and certain of our subsidiaries may from time to time be parties to legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not expect these matters to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We carry insurance that we believe to be adequate. Although there can be no assurance that such insurance is sufficient to protect us against all contingencies, management believes that our insurance protection is reasonable in view of the nature and scope of our operations.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

None.

In addition to the other information set forth in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. The risk factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K have not materially changed. The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including the risks faced by us described below and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.

Item 5. Other Information.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

31

## Item 6. Exhibits

The following documents are filed as exhibits to this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

## Exhibit

Number	Description
31.1	Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors
31.2	Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) of William R. Shane, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
32.1	Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors (furnished herewith)
32.2	Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) of William R. Shane, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (furnished herewith)

32

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

STONEMOR PARTNERS L.P.

By: StoneMor GP LLC its general partner

August 9, 2006 /s/ Lawrence Miller

Lawrence Miller

Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of

Directors (Principal Executive Officer)

August 9, 2006 /s/ William R. Shane

William R. Shane

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal

Financial Officer)

33

# **Table of Contents**

## Exhibit Index

Exhibit	
Number	Description
31.1	Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors
31.2	Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) of William R. Shane, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
32.1	Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors (furnished herewith)
32.2	Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) of William R. Shane, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (furnished herewith)

34